HENRY et al v. SCHOOL DISTRICT OF PHILADELPHIA et al

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA
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DAVID and RENEE HENRY, individually
and as guardians and natural parents of
S.J.K.H, aminor

V.

SCHOOL DISTRICT OF
PHILADELPHIA and DANIEL J.
LAZAR, in hisofficial and individual
capacities

CIVIL ACTION

NO. 19-1115

MEMORANDUM RE: MOTION TO DISMISS

Baylson, J.

l. Introduction

September6, 2019

In this casePlaintiffs DavidHenry (“Mr. Henry”) and Renee Hen(§Mrs. Henry”), both

individually and as guardians and parents of Plaintiff S.J.K.H., a minor, allegedfeatdants,

Daniel J. Lazar (“Lazar”), S.J.K.H.’s school principal, and the School Distri€hibédelphia

(“District”) violated federal and state law bgermitting S.J.K.H. to be bullied and by

discriminating against her on the basidefrace, gender, and disab#s The Complaint (ECF

1, “Compl.”) advances teiCounts:

1. Count |: Sexbased hostile educational environment in violatiofitdé 1X of the
Education Amendments Act of 1972, 20 U.S.C. 8§ 1681(a) (“Title, &) behalf
of S.J.K.H.against Defendant District;

2. Count Il : Racebased hostile educational environment in violatioidé VI of
the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2008seq.(“Title VI”) , and 42 U.S.C.

§ 1981 on behalf of S.J.K.ldgainst Defendant District;

3. Count Il : Disability harassment in violation of Section 504 of the Rehabilitation
Act, 29 U.S.C. § 794'RA"), and the Americans with Disabilities Aet2 U.S.C.
§ 12101 etseq.(*ADA”) , on behalf of S.J.K.Hagainst Defendant District;

4. Count IV: Disability discriminatiorby disparate treatment in violation tife RA

and the ADAon behalf of S.J.K.Hagairst Defendant District;
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5. Count V: Race discrimination by disparate treatment in violation of Titland
§ 1981 on behalf of S.J.K.ldgainst Defendant District;

6. Count VI: Sex discrimination by disparate treatment in violation of TitleotX
behalf of S.J.K.Hagainst Defendant District;

7. Count VII : Statecreated danger in violation of the Equal Protection Clauieeof
FourteentPAmendment to the United States Constitution under 42 U.S.C. § 1983
on behalf of S.J.K.H. against both Defendants;

8. Count VIII : Violation of the Pennsylvania Safe Schools Act, 24 P.S-8303 ,et
seq.(“PSSA”), and theEqual Protection Clause of theuteenth Amendment
under 8§ 1983 on behalf of S.J.K.H. against both Defendants;

9. Count IX: Willful misconduct in violation of thePennsylvania Political
Subdivision Tort Claims Act, 42aPC.S.A 8§ 8541 etseq.(“PSTCA”), on behalf
of S.J.K.H.against Defendant Lazar; and

10.Count X: Negligent infliction of emotional distress (“NIED”) on behalf of
Mr. Henry against Defendant Lazar.

Presently before this Court is Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss all Counts Qfdimplaint
for failure to exhaust administrative remedies under Federal Rule of Giegdure 12(b)(1) and
for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted under Rule@?2(B)}{r the reasons
discussed below, the Motion to Dismis$SRANTED.

I. Factual Background

Taking Plaintif§ allegations as true, the factual baaokgnd is as follows. Mr. and Mrs.
Henry, the parents and guardians of S.J.K.H, reside in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. (Compl. { 3.)
S.J.K.H. is an elevegearold, African Americanfemalein the fifth-gradeclassat Albert M.
Greenfield School (“Greenfield)a public school in Philadelphanda subunit of the District.
(Id. 11 4, 8, 6a.) The District is a government agency that provides public education for
Philadelphiaresidents. Ifl. 1 5.) Lazar, a Caucasian manGeeenfield’sprincipal. (d. 1 6.)
S.J.K.H. has attended Greenfield since the 28 8chool year, when she was in fourthdgra

(d.17.)



A. S.J.K.H.'s Medical Conditions and Individual Educational Plan (“IEP")

S.J.K.H. has several disabilitigmcluding neurofioromatosis Type 1 with moyamoya,;
optic glioma; Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder, inattentive; and carotidosieron the left
side. (d. T 10.) These disabilities restricted S.J.K.H.’s participation in certain schtvltias,
including thoseequiring headbutting or chokeholds, such as wrestling, which could cause loss of
vision, stroke, or death(ld. § 11.) Mr. and MrsHenry conveyed these limitations “on several
occasions” to Greenfield in general; the school nursegttfisical education teacher and S.J.K.H.’s
IEP Coordinatoy Cheryl Russ (“Russ!the GreenfieldEP Coordinator; and Lazar.Id, 11 12,
17, 31c) S.J.K.H.'s IEP provides for supplemental learning support outside of the regular
educational classroom as well as speech and language thdchfy1q.)

B. 2017-18 Interactions with V.M.

Since the 20118 school year, S.J.K.H. suffered physical abuse and bullying by her
classmate, V.M., an African American female with Caucasian adopted parght§f 26-21.)
Mr. and Mrs. Henryallege that V.M.’s mother is Greenfield employee (Id. 1 22.) V.M.
physically abused, bullied, and harassed S.J.K.H. “a number of times” at scHadinigdout not
limited to, threatening to “slit [S.J.K.H.’s] throa®in November 6, 2017 and January 3, 2018;
taking S.J.K.H's sweater and lunch; punching S.J.K.H. in the stomach on January 3, 2018;
destroying S.J.K.H.’s white board ergdeaving bruises on S.J.K.H.’s body; and causing S.J.K.H.
anxiety and a fear of schb (Id. T 23.) S.J.K.H. reported these events to Greenfield teachers
and/or administrators but was not taken seriousty. f(24.) No one at Greenfield contacted Mr.
or Mrs. Henry about these incidentsd. ( 25.)

OnceMr. and Mrs. Henryearnedof V.M.’s bullying and harassment, they reported these

issues to S.J.K.H.’s teachers, Lazar, and “others” to no avail{ 26.) Prior to V.M.’s alleged



attacks on S.J.K.H., Lazar and other Greenfield administrators and facultdimgchV.M.’s
parens, knew of V.M.’s abusive behavior, but ditittle” to stop V.M.’s aggression toward
S.J.KH. [d.127)

C. 2018-19 Interactions with N.S.

During the 2018-19 school year, S.J.K.H. was bullied, harassed, and physically abused by
a Caucasian, male classmateS. (Id. 11 28-29.) N.S. had an IEP that required him to have a
oneio-one aide with him at all times at schoold. @ 30.) On five separate occasions in October
2018, N.S. physically attacked S.J.K.H. at schoml. 1 31.)

First, on October 9, 2018, when N.S.’s aide was not present, N.S. choked S.J.K.H. during
homeroom. If. § 31a.) S.J.K.H. reported the incident to the homeroom teacher but was ignored.
(Id.) Neitherthe homeroom teacheor Russ, who was standing in the doorway, interd@&me
reported the incident.ld.)

Then, on October 15, 2018, N.S. choked S.J.K.H. from bahindg math class. Id.
31h) Again, N.S.’s ondo-one aide was not with him.Id{) The math teachefid not see what
had happened, and S.J.K.H. did not report the incident, but another student asked S.J.K.H. if she
was okay, and she said that she was ndt) @fter S.J.K.H. told Mr. and Mrs. Henry what had
happenedMr. Henry took S.J.K.H. to schoahd N.S.’s ondo-one aide apologized.ld¢) Mr.
Henryreported bothhe October 9 and October aiacks to Lazar, who was unaware of what had
happened but said that he would investigal.) (Three days later, on October 18, S.J.K.H. went
to the Children’s Hospital of Philadelphia (“CHOP”) because of persistent hip peireported
the attacks to her doctorld()

The next daywhile in music clas®n October 19, 2018, N.S. stated that he took a train

during the summer and killed the black female train conductor, to which the musicrteache



responded, “[W]e are not going to talk about killing peopleld. { 31c.) N.S. then pushed
S.J.K.H. down oto the carpet, pushed on her stomach, and then sat on her stomach, but the music
teacher did nothing to help.ld() N.S.’s aide got N.S. off of S.J.K.H.Id() At that time, the
homeroom teacher happenedvalk byand directed S.J.K.H. to go to thehod nurse, who gave
S.J.K.H. an icepack but did not call Mr. or Mrs. Henngl.)(Instead Russ called/rs. Henryand
told her that S.J.K.H. and N.S. were “wrestling” in music class, but she did not mention tha
S.J.K.H.went to the nurse.Id.) Russ stied, “You need to tell your daughter to stay away from
this boy. He has really bad thoughts about her. And it goes well beyond liking ldér.Dring
the call Mrs. Henry learned that N.S. is autistic and that Lazar changed N.S.’s homefeotivef
immediately. [d.)

Lazar followed up witiMr. and Mrs. Henry andssuedthem that he would make sureth
N.S. and S.J.K.Hvouldnot “cross paths.”1d.) Specifically, on October 21, 2018, Lazar emailed
Mr. and Mrs. Henryo informthem that “[w]ebelieve that [N.S.] was playing out a fantasy in his
head that carried over into the real wgrland that Greenfield “quickly moved him” to another
class. d.)

Then,on the morning of a fiftlgrade field trip on October 22, 2014r. Henry spoke to
Lazar about S.J.K.H. ghysical safety because of N.S., and three teachers ad&urddnrythat
they would watch N.S.Id. § 31d) When the studentgturned to schopN.S. pushed S.J.K.H.
down on the schoolyard ground with his forearm firmly on her neck, causing S.J.K.H. todrang
head hard on the groundd.) N.S.’s oneto-one aide was not presentd.j A Greenfield teacher
ran to pull N.S. off of S.J.K.H., but Greenfield did not provide S.J.K.H. with medical attenti
(Id.) Neither Lazar nor anyone else at Greenfield informed Mr. or Mrs. Herfiled a report.

(Id.) The next day, Lazar assured Mr. Henry that Greenfield scheduled N.&ad fanr fifteen



minutes after school started amd departuréor ten minutes before school ended so that S.J.K.H.
and N.S. would not cross pathdd. Mr. Henry requested that Greenfield implement a safety
plan for S.J.K.H.’s physical protection, but Lazar refused.) (

Finally, on October 26, 2018, while S.J.K.H. and Mr. Henry wel@&to buy tickets for
a school dance, N.S. came from behind and lifted S.J.K.H. in a chokehold when N.S.’s aide was
not present. Id. § 31e.) Mr. Henry removed N.S.’s grip from S.J.K.H.’s neck, but not before she
sustainednarks on her neck.ld.) Greenfield did not offer S.J.K.H. medical assistandd.) (
Though Lazar wagewerthan ten feet away, he did nothinghtelp. (Id.) Mr. Henry called the
police and filed a reptr (Id.) Lazar failed to suspend N.S.; instead, N.S.’s mother kept him home
for more than twaveeks (ld. 11 31e, 36.

Later that day, Mrs. Henry took S.J.K.H. to CHOP because S.J.K.H. continued to have
neck pain and rednessld.] Doctors alCHOP diagnosed S.J.K.H. with Post Traumatic Stress
Disorder (“PTSD”) due to prolonged physical abuse, bullying, and harassmeneafi@de (d.)

D. Mr. and Mrs. Henry’s Requests Regarding S.J.K.H.

At some point thereafter, Mr. and Mrs. Henry madwaultiple complaint’ of bullying,
harassment, and physical abuse to the District and Greenfield admirsstraddgulty, including
the CEO and Superintendent of the District, the Disrisssistant Superintendent of “Learning
Network 3,” and others, biN.S. remained at Greenfieldld( 1 32-33.) On October 29, 2018,
Mr. and Mrs. Henry met with Lazar and again requested a physical protection plad.koHS
that would includea oneto-one aide for S.J.K.H. and N.S.’s immediate transfer, but Lazar
respnded, “Absolutely not.” 1¢l. 1 34.)

The next day, on October 30, 2018, Mrs. Henry submitted an online bullying and

harassment complaint with the District, to which the District replied that Lazatigatesl and



found N.S.’s attacks on S.J.K.H. werenadhifestation of his disability.”Id. { 35.) Mr. and Mrs.
Henry filed an appeal on November 15, 20118L) (The following day, Mr. and Mrs. Henry met
with Lazar and th&aison to the District’'s Special Education Administrator to request ayqaltet

for S.J.K.H., but Lazar would not approve ild.( 38.) Mr. and Mrs. Henry again met with Lazar
and Greenfield teacheosy November 26, 2018 to discuss the impact of V.M. and N.S.’s attacks
on S.J.K.H. in light of her disabilitiesld( 1 40.)

As of December 2018, thergas no resolutiondespite an additional meeting with the
School Board, Lazar, and Greenfield faculig well as a letter from Mrs. Henry to the District
Superintendent complaining about the District’'s failure to reasonably accomen®dakK.H.'s
disabilities (Seeid. 11 4+43) However, the following month, on or about January 23, 2018,
Mrs. Henry received a tertessagérom Lazarstating thatN.S. was no longert &reenfield. Id.

1 44.) The next daygn January 24, 2019, S.J.K.H. suffered a matrmoke and has been out of
school on a fulime basis ever sinceld( { 45.) Plaintiffs allege that S.J.K.H. suffered “adverse
physical traumatic responses,” including the rsitnoke, PTSD, panic attacks, and a nightmare,
becaise of Defendants’ conductld( 1 37, 53, 63, 70, 75, 80, 85, 94, 106, 112.)

[l Procedural History

Plaintiffs filed the Complaint in this case on March 18, 2019 (ECF 1). On May 20, 2019,
Defendants filedhe instantMotion to Dismiss under Rules 12(b)(1) and 12(b)(6) (ECF 3, “Mot.”)
Plaintiffs filed a Response in opposition to the Motion on June 3, 2019 (ECF 4, “Resp.”).

V. Legal Standard
A. Rule 12(b)(1)
When considering a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(1), the Court must determine

whether Defendants alleged a facial or facial deficiency. Davis v. Wells,B¢¢-.3d 333, 346




(3d Cir. 2016). A facieattack concerns “an alleged pleading deficiency’ whereas a factual attack
concerns ‘the actual failure gd plaintiff's] claims to comport[factually] with the jurisdictional

prerequisites.”CNA v. United States, 535 F.3d 13239 (3d Cir. 2008jalterations in original)

(quoting_U.S. ex rel. Atkinson v. Pa. Shipbuilding Co., 473 F.3d 506, 514 (3d Cir. 2007)).

In this case, Defendants’ challenge is facial because the Motion “concerns an alleged
pleading deficiency” with respetd Plaintiffs’ failure to exhaust administrative remedi&ee
Davis, 824 F.3d at 346. Further, Defendants filed the Motion before filing an Answer to the

Complaintor conducting discoverySeeAskew v. Church of the Lord Jesus Christ, 684 F.3d 413,

417 (3d Cir. 2012) (“As the defendants had not answered and the parties had not engaged in

discovery, the first motion to dismiss was facialMortensen v. First Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n

549 F.2d 884, 81-92 (3d Cir. 1977) (noting that a factual attack “no&gur at any stage of the
proceedings, from the time the answer has been served until after the trial hasrbplerted”)
Whenaddressing a facial challenge, “the Court must only consider the allegaf the complaint
and documenteferencedhereinand attached thereto, in the light most favorable to the plaintiff,”

similar to a Rule 12(b)(6) motiorConstitution Party of Pa. v. Aichele, 757 F.3d 347, 358 (3d Cir.

2014) (quoting In re Schering Plough Corp., 678 F.3d 235, 243 (3d Cir. 2012)).

B. Rule 12(b)(6)
To survive a Rule 12(b)(6) motioa, complaint must contaifsufficient factual matter,

accepted as true, to ‘state a claim for relief that is plausible on its fagshitroft v. Igbal, 556

U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (quoting Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007)). The Court

in lgbalexplained that, although a court must accept as true all of the factual allegatitaiaed
in a complaint, that requirement does not apply to legal conclusions; therefore, Headstg

include factual allegations to support the legal claims asseltgohl, 556 U.S.at 678, 684.



“Threadbare recitals of the elements of a cause of action, supported by mersargratatements,
do not suffice.”1d. at 678 (citingTwombly, 550 U.S. at 555).
V. Discussion
A. Parties’ Contentions
i.  Defendans Motion to Dismiss

In the Motion to Dsmiss,Defendants contend thBlaintiffs’ federalclaims against the
District (Counts +VIII) must be dismissed for lack of subject matter jurisdiction under Rule
12(b)(1) becausPlaintiffs failed to exhaust their administrative remedies under the thudild
with Disabilities Education Act, 20 U.S.C. § 14@Pseq.(“IDEA”) . (Mot. at 12-18)

Alternatively, Defendants advance the following reasons @bynts +VIll should be
dismissed under Rule 12(b)(6).

First, Defendants contend that Plaintiffs fail to state valid a Title IX clainda@sa hostile
educational environment or disparate treatment (Counts | and 1V). As tafaliritle 1X hostile
educationaknvironment claim, Defendants argue thatGoenplaint fails to plead sufficient facts
to establish that the alleged harassment was sexual in pathed the District’'s response to the
alleged harassment was deliberately indiffereid. at 2124.) Regardinghe Title 1X disparate
treatment @im, Defendants contend that the Complaint does not allege the District treated
S.J.K.H.less favorably than male students when responding to complaints of bullinagt 25.)

Second, Defendants argue that Plainfdi$ to state a hostile educational environment or
disparate treatment claim under Title VI (Counts Il and Xgcording to Defendants, Plaintiffs

cannot state a validlitle VI hostile educational environment clalmcause the Complaint does

! The Court notes that CownVIl and VIII-Plaintiffs’ § 1983 claimsare brought against both
the District and Lazar.



not allege any facts establishing tigaf.K.H.was bullied because dier race. Ifl. at 26-27.)
With respect tahe Title VI disparate treatment claim, Defendants argue that the Comfaldént
to allegethe District’s respose tothealleged bullying wasonnectedo S.J.K.H.’srace. [d. at
28.) Nor does the Complaint advance any allegations that similarly situatedfriuam
American children were treated more favoraldgfendants contendld()

Third, Defendantsirgie that Plaintiffs’ 8§ 1981 claims (Counts Il and V) fail as a matter of
law because § 1981 does not provide for a direct right of action against the Disldigt. (
Defendantxontend that § 1983 provides Plaintiffs’ exclusive remedy against the Distdgt. (

Fourth Defendants argue that Plaintiffs’ hostile educational environment and disparate
treatment claims under the ADA and the RZounts Ill and 1V) must be dismissed for the same
reasons adlaintiffs’ race and gendebased hostile educational veronment and disparate
treatment claims.ld. at 29.) According to Defendants, Plaintiffs fail to state an ADAR@Y claim
because the Complaint does not allege any thatsonstratinghat S.J.K.H.’s disabili¢s played
any part in the District’'s response to Harllying complaints or that similarly situated, ron
disabled students were treated more favorahty) (

Next, Defendantgurn to Plaintiffs’ § 1983 claims against both Defendants (Counts VII
and VIII). Defendants argue that Plaintiffs’ claim of stateated danger (Count VII) must be
dismissed because the Complaint does not allege affirmative action on the Bigtait}’ as
requiredto state a valid claim under this theorfld. at 31-32.) As to Plantiffs’ § 1983 claim
based on the PSSA and the Fourteenth Amendment (Count VIII), Defendants contend that to the
extent that this claim is based on a violation of the PSSA, it must be dismissedebeaaus
based on violations of state law are not permitted under 8§ 188%t 32.) Defendants argue that

Plaintiffs’ Fourteenth Amendment claim under § 1983 in Count ¥ilist also be dismissed

10



because Plaintiffs have failed to establish a custom, policy, or practice Didtnict, identify a
policymaler, or demonstrate deliberate indifference, which are necessary elements af a vali
municipal liability claim under § 1983.d( at 32-34.)

Defendants then proceed to argue that regardless of whether Gadiitaile dismissed
under Rule 12(b)(1) or 12){6), the state law claims against Lazar (Counts IX and X) must be
dismissed under Rule 12(b)(6) because Lazar is immune from liability undesi#eA. (d. at
36—-37.) Defendants also contend that even if Lazar were not immune fromylidbiliHenry’s
NIED claim (Count X) cannot withstand dismissal because the Complaint fallsege that Mr.
Henry suffered physical harm, as required to state a valid NIED clai). (

ii.  Plaintiff s Response to Defendargt Motion to Dismiss

In responsgPlaintiffs argie thatthe claims against the Distric€¢unts I-VIIl) should not
be dismissed for failure to exhaust administrative remedies because S.lReredsnon
educational harms thaannotberemedied by the IDEA. (Resp. at 6.) Plaintiffs furtbentend
that exhaustion is not required because it would be futile and inadequate and S.J.Kdita ph
and emotional injuries may cause her irreparable héicnat 9-12.)

Plaintiffs arguein the alternativgthat allCountswithstand dismissal und&ule 12(b)(6)
However, Plaintiffs voluntarily withdraw their claims against the Distinder § 1981 in Counts
Il and V of the Complaint. ld. at 12 n.6.)

Turning to Plaintiffs’ Title IX claims (Counts | and VI), Plaintiffs arguetttiee Complaint
states a hostile educational environment claim based on stodstident harassment because
the District’s actions were clearly unreasonabld. at 12-13.) Regardinghedisparate treatment

claim, Plaintiffs argue thahe Complainadequately allegghatN.S.,a similarly situatedmale

11



studentwas treated more favorably than S.J.K.Hl. &t 16-17.) Plaintiffs contendthat the same
analysis applies to the Title \élaims(Counts Il and V). If. at 17.)

Plaintiffs thenargue that the Complaint states plausible claims under the ADA and RA
(Counts lll and V) ly alleging that Defendants rejected Mr. and Mrs. Henry’'s requests that N.S.
be removed from Greenfield and that S.J.K.H. be provided with-toemee aide.(ld. at 18-19.)

Next, Plaintiffs sek to refute Defendants’ arguments that Plaintiffs’ § 1888ns(Counts
VIl and VIII) must be dismissed. Plaintiffs argue that the ste@ated danger exception permits
S.J.K.H. to maintain a cause of action in this cas®)|aintiffs plausiblyallegethat Defendants
used their authority to put S.J.K.H. in dangeld. &t 26-21.) Plaintiffsthen assert that to the
extent that Count VIII fails as a matter of law by alleging a violatiostate lawunder § 1983,
Plaintiffs withdraw that claim. Id. at 21 n.10.) However, Plaintiffs clarify that they aranging
this claim against Lazar only in his official capacity because he failedlltwfthe PSSA’s
reporting requirements, depriving S.J.K.H. of her Fourteenth Amendment rightat Z1.)

Lastly, Plaintiffs turn to the state claimgainst Lazarthe PSTCA and NIED claims
(Counts IX and X). Plaintiffs argue thaazar is not immune from liabilitunder the PSTCA
because Count IX alleges that Lazar engaged in “willful misconduct,” whih @xception to the
PSTCA's protectiors. (Id. 22-23.) With respect to Count X, Plaintiffs argue that Mr. Henry has
stateda plausible NIED claim because tivgnessed N.S. choke S.J.K.H. on October 26, 2018
(Id. at23—-24.) According to Plaintiffsa plantiff may state a valid NIED claim without alleging
physical injury under controlling Pennsylvania caselal.) (

B. Analysis

As set forth above, Defendants argue thtintiffs’ federal claims againghe District

(Counts +VIII) must be dismissed foack of subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to Rule 12(b)(1)

12



for failure to exhaust administrative remedies under the IBBA thaPlaintiffs’ state law claims
against Lazar (Counts IX and X) should be dismissed under Rule 12(bXBgrnatively,
Defendants contend that all Counts should be dismissed under Rule 1ZTbg & ourtaddresses
each challenge in turn.

I.  Rule 12(b)(1):Federal Claims Againstthe District (Counts I-VIIl) and
Lazar (Counts VII and VIII)

1. IDEA Exhaustion Requirement Statutory Scheme
The objective of the IDEA isensure that all children with disabilities have available to
them a free appropriate public educatiPFAPE)] that emphasizes special education and related
services designed to ma&eir unique needs.” 20 U.S.C. § 1400(d)(1)(A). A FAPE consists of
“special education and related serviedsith ‘instruction’ tailored to meet a child’s ‘unique
needs’ and sufficient ‘supportive services’ to permit the child to benefit frormgtaiction.” Fry

v. Napoleon Cmty. Sch., 137 S.Ct. 743, 443 (2017)(quoting & 1410(9), (26), (29)). An IEP

“serves as the ‘primary vehicle’ for providing each child with the pronfgdeE.” Fry, 137 S.Ct.
at 749 (citation omitted).

Because parents ancheol representatives may disagree over the provision of a FAPE or
IEP, “[s]tates must comply with detailed procedures for identifying, evalgatand making
placements for students with disabilities, as well as procedures for develgps§ Batchelor

V. Rose Tree Media Sch. Dist59 F.3d 266, 2772 (3d Cir. 2004)Fry, 137 S.Ct. at 749. Atthe

outset, “a dissatisfied parent may file a complaint as to any matter concéraipgpvision of a
FAPE with the local or state educational agency (as stat@rovides). Fry, 137 S.Ctat 749
(citing 8§ 1415(b)(6)).That complaint “generally triggers a ‘[p]reliminary meeting’ involving the
contending parties, . . . [or] the parties may instead (or also) pursuefiedgéd mediation

procesg]” Fry, 137 S.Ct. at 74@uoting 881415(f)(1)(B)(i), (e)). If the dispute is not resolved,

13



“the matter proceeds to a ‘due process hearing’ before an impartial heareg bffry, 137 S.Ct.
at 749(quoting 8§ 1415(f)(1)(A)).If the hearing is conducted at tloeal level, parents may appeal
the ruling to the state agenc¥ry, 137 S.Ct. at 149 (citing § 1415(g))Finally, “[a]ny party
aggrieved by the findings and decision made under’ the IDEA has the right to brinigaatoivi

. . . in a federal district court[.]'Defeo v. Rose Tree Media Sch. Djstlo. 06755,2007 WL

576317, at *2 (E.D. Pa. Feb. 20, 2007) (Baylson, J.) (quoting 8§ 1415(i)(2)(A)).
In general, “exhausting the IDEA’s administrative process is requireddier dor the

statute to ‘grant] subject matter jurisdiction to the district coujt’”] Batchelor 759 F.3d at 272

(alteratiors in original) (quotingKomninos v. Upper Saddle River Bd. of Educ., 13 F.3d 775, 778
(3d Cir. 1994)). Where a plaintiff does rditectly assert claims under the IDEA, as is the case
here, § 1415) of the IDEA provides that the plaintiff “exhaust the IDEA’s pealures before
filing an action under the ADA, the Rehabilitation Act, or similar laws whendblyt when) her
suit ‘seek[s] relief that is also available’ under the IDEAtY, 137 S.Ctat 752 @lteration in
original) (Quoting 8 1413{). This requirenant exists to “bar[] plaintiffs from circumventing [the]
IDEA’s exhaustion requirement by taking claims that could have been brought Digfeahd
repackaging them as claims under some other statgtesection 1983, section 504 of the
Rehabilitation At, or the ADA.” Batchelor 759 F.3dat 272—73(alteration in original) itation
omitted.

The Supreme Court ifry interpreted 8 14195(to require exhaustion if “the substance, or
gravamen, of the plaintiff's complaint” seeks relief for the denial of a FAPfg, 137 S.Ct. at
752 755. Fry set forth a framework to assist courts in making this determination. The Supreme
Court explainedhat the IDEA’s exhaustion requirement applies if two conditions occuth¢l)

plaintiff could not have brought the same claim if the alleged conduct occurred aicafgeitity

14



that was not a school, af@) an adult visiting the school could not hadvanced the same claim.
137 S.Ct. at 756-57. Another clue, the Supreme Court stated, pgtbas began to exhaust the
IDEA’s administrativeprocessby filing a complaintbut then shiftedmidstreamto judicial
proceedings.d. at 757.

The Third Grecuit has since interpreted tiigy framework to apply both to individual

claims included in a complairind thecomplaint in its entirety.Wellman v. Butler Area Sch.

Dist., 877 F.3d 125, 132-33 (3d Cir. 201mdt cited by either party)in light of thisframework,
the Court turns to determine whether Plaintiffs’ federal claims against the D{§&dants +VIII )
must be dismisseainder Rule 12(b)(1).
2. IDEA Exhaustion Requirement Application

As noted above, Defendants argue ®aitints +VII | are subject to the IDEA’s procedural
requirements because the Complaint alleges that S.J.K.H. suffered educatiored chjle to
bullying she endured and Defendants’ failure to amend S.J.K.H.’s IEP to all@wfogto-one
aide. (Mot. at 1618.) Plaintiffs, on the other hand, argue that the Complaint alleges that S.J.K.H.
suffered noreducational injuries that cannot be remedied by the IDEA. (Resg.at&ccording
to Plaintiffs, Mr. and Mrs. Henry’s requests for a “safety plan,” includingeto-one aide, have
nothing to do with S.J.K.H.’s IEPId)) In support of their positions, both parties seek to analogize
the instant case to decisions from this District that precEded

The Court concludes that application of #g test to Plaintiffs’ Complaint and each of
their federalclaims against the District demonstrates that Plaintiffs’ grievances arise from
Defendants’ alleged failure to accommodate S.J.K.H.'s physical condibonkulfill her

educational needsThough the Complaint does not use the teFAPE,; the Complaint does
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allege thatDefendantsfailed to provide S.J.K.H. with a “safe, nurturing and/or positive
environment,” as promised by Lazar's stated vision for Greenfield. (C&ifhp8-19.)

Unlike in Fry, where the complaint alleged only disability discrimination without making
any reference to the adequacy of educational services provided, here, thei@domiaes on
the District’s failure to provide S.J.K.H. with a eteone aide at school or to ensure that S.J.K.H.
was adequately protected from bullying on school grouddee facts alleged in the Complaint
further pertain to Mr. and Mrs. Henry's requests for specific accommodationsJiér.t& to
ensure that she would not be subjected to treatthenivould aggravate hdrsabilities including
that Greenfield restrict S.J.K.H.’s participation in certain physical activfireside S.J.K.H. with
a oneto-one aide, and remove N.S. from Greenfie(td. 17 16-12, 32-38, 4643.) Plaintiffs
allegethat Defendantsefusal to provide these accommodations caused S.J.KhlScal and
emotional injuries. I¢l. 11 1+12, 31, 34, 38, 42-43.)

These factual allegations are incorporated by reference into each Count of thi@i@pm
each ofwhich also sets forth additional allegatiori¥aintiffs specifically allege in Counts | and
Il, which claim that S.J.K.H. was subjected to a hostile educational environmenptation of
Titles VI and IX, that the Districtdeprived [S.J.K.H.] of access to the educational opportunities
and benefits provided by the District.” (Id. 11 52, 6R9) pleaded, Defendants’ allegexfusalto
ensure that S.J.K.H. was protected from V.M. and N.S., including by failing to maimtaimé
to-one aide required by N.S.’s IE# provideS.J.K.H. witha oneto-one aide under a “safety
plan,”amounts to a failure to accommodate S.J.K.H. so that she could benefit from the educational
experience at GreenfieldSeeWellman 566 F.3d at 134.Theseallegations‘would not have
occured outside the school setting and . . . a nonstudent could not (and would not) have ‘pressed

essentially the same grievanceld. at 133 (quotingrry, 137 S.Ct. at 756). Though the remaining
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Counts against the District (Counts I, IV, V, VI, VBnd MII) do not specifically allege that
S.J.K.H. was deprived of educational opportunities, they are based on the sanhalfagataons

asCounts | and I.SeeBlunt v. Lower Merion Sch. Dist., No. 6100, 559 F. Supp. 2d 548,56

61 (E.D. Pa. 2008) (Bartle, J(hoting that ADA andRA claims were subject to the IDEA
exhaustion requirement because they were based on the same allegaidb&aAsclaim), aff'd

on other grounds, 767 F.3d 247 (3d Cir. 2014).

Moreover, the history of the proceedings aadesthat the gravamen of the claims against
the District is the denial of a FAPESeeFry, 137 S.Ct. at 757. Though Plaintiffs do not allege
that they filed a complaint with a local or state agency, the Complaint doesthedfrs. Henry
filed an orine complaint with the District irOctober 2018, and that Mr. and Mrs. Henry
subsequentlyiiled an appeal from the ressilof Lazar’'s investigation. (Compl. { 35.) The
Complaint further alleges that October, Novembegnd December 2018, Mr. and Mkgenry
met with Lazar, the liaison to the District's Special Education Administrator, an&dheol
Board among othergp discuss a safety plan for S.J.K.H. and N.S.’s attendance at sddo] (
31-32,38, 46-43.) In the Response, Plaintiffs characterize these actions as attempts to “provide
a safe educational environment for [S.J.K[[{.Jeven if separate from her IERResp. at 11.)
Therefore, the Court concludes thia federal claims i€ounts +VIII are sibject to the IDEA’s
exhaustion requirement.

3. IDEA Exhaustion Requirement Exceptions

Plaintiffs seek to save CountsMIll from dismissal by arguing that exceptions to the
exhaustion requirement applyid.(at 9-11.) The Third Circuit has recognized four exceptions to
the exhaustion requirement: “(1) exhaustion would be futile or inadequate; (Jubgresented

is a purely legal question; (3) the administrative agency cannot grant relief; amhédjstion
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would cause severe or irreparable hari.E. v. Cent. Dauphin Sch. Dist., 765 F.3d,25(5 (3d

Cir. 2014) (citingKomninos 13 F.3d at 778). “The party seeking to be excused from exhaustion

bears the burden of establishing an exception.” M.M. v. Paterson Bd. of Educ., 736 F. App’x 317,

320 (3d Cir. 2018) (citing Honig v. Doe, 484 U.S. 305, 327 (1988lgintiffs argue that the first
and fourth exceptions apply in this ca3éne Court disagrees.

As to the first exceptionexhaustionis considered futile where the plaintiff previously
exhawsted administrative remedies, the factual record is sufficiently develogeplaihtiff seeks
remedies unavailable under the IDEA, or thareno educational issues to be resoledause
the only remaining issue is a measure of damafesBatchelor 759 F.3d at 280—-8(ollecting
cases). Plaintiffs contend that exhaustion would be futile because they complaired met
with educational professionals to resolve their requests for accommodations KoHS andthey
filed a police reportto no avail. (Resp. at 10-11.)

The Court is not persuaded by Plaintiffs’ argumerts judges in this District have
recognized, “the futility exception does not apply merely because a flaiptiévious meetings

with school administrators were notcsessful.” Ruiz v. Strange No. 152112, 2015 WL

7734131, at3 (E.D. Pa. Dec. 1, 2015) (Padova, (¢9ncluding that exhaustion would not have
been futile where the school refused the parent’s request for a hearing tot@gdeaision not
to make reasnableaccommodations for her son’s learning disabilitifurther, while Plaintiffs
seek damagewhich are unavailable under the IDBAaintiffs alsarequestttorney’s feexosts
and“such other relief as this Court deems prgpaihich the IDEA authbrizes district courts to
grant. SeeBatchelor 759 F.2d at 272The Third Circuit held that the futility exception did not
apply where a complairgimilarly not only soughtelief unavailable under the IDEA, but also

“such other relief as this court des just ad appropriate.”ld. at 276.
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This Court also concludes that the fourth exception, known as the “emergency situation

exception,” does not applyseeKomninos 13 F.3d at 779. Plaintifiergue that they initiated this

action promptly due to the severe and irreparable nature of S.J.K.H.’s injuriep. §REE12.)

This assertioroesnot establish that thisxceptionappliesbecause Plaintiffs do nallege that
S.J.K.H. would suffer irreversible damage in the absence of damages, attorasycedts, or
“suchother reliefas this Cott deems propérwhile the IDEA administrative process is pending.
SeeKomninos 13 F.3d at 779 (“Plaintiffs must provide a sufficient preliminary showing that the
child will suffer serious and irreversible mental or physical damage . orebiife admiistrative
process may be circumvented.”).

In sum, becausthe federal claims iil€ounts +VIII fall within the ambit of the IDEA,
Plaintiffs did not utilize the IDEA administrative process, @&idintiffs have failed to meet their
burden of establishing that any exception to the exhaustion requirement appliesuthis st
dismiss these Counts for lack of subject matter jurisdiatizaier Rule 12(b)(1). Howevethe
Court will do so without prejudiceo that Plaintiffs can exhaust administrative remedi

ii.  Rule 12(b)(6) StateLaw Claims Against Lazar (Counts VIII, IX , and X)

As set forth above, Defendants also move to disthisstate law claims against Lazar
under Rule 12(b)(6jCounts IX and X). To the extent that Count VIII alleges violations of the
PSSA, the Court construes this Count as a state law claim subject to dismissRluled(b)(6).

Defendants arguthat Count VIII should be dismisselblecausePlaintiffs impermissibly
seeks to enlpy 8§ 1983 to remedy alleged violations of state. (Mot. at 3236) Defendants
further contend that PlaintiffSTCA and NIED claim&é Counts IX and X fail as a matter of

law because Lazar is immune from liability under the PSTQd.af 36-38.)
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With respect to Count VIII, the Court agrees with Defendants that Plaiaiffat bring a

§ 1983 claim based on violations of state |&eeElkin v. Fauver, 969 Rd 48, 52 (3d Cir. 1992)

(“An alleged violation of state law . . . does not state a claideusection 1983.”)As a result,d
the extent that Count VIII alleges violations of the PSSA under § 1983, it is sksingth
prejudicepursuant tdRule 12(b)(6). The Court does not reach any conclusions #outerits
of Plaintiffs’ § 1983 claim based on alleged violations of the Equal Protectaurse€ of the
Fourteenth Amendment in the same Caunt.

As to Plaintiffs’ “willful misconduct” claim under the PSTCA (Count I1X) and. Menry’s
NIED claim (Count X), disposition of these claimader Rule 12(b)(6will be stayeduntil
Plaintiffs have exhausted adminisivatremedies under the IDEA.

VI.  Conclusion

Defendard Motion to Dismiss will begranted Counts +VII and the Fourteenth
Amendment claim under § 1983 in Count VIII will be dismissed, without prejuiic&ilure to
exhaust IDEA administrative remedies under Rule 12(b)[t)the extent that Count Vidlleges
a 8 1983 claim based on violations of the PSSA, it will be dismissed, with prejudice, ungler Rul
12(b)(6). The Court does not reach any conclusianshis time as to the merits Blaintiffs’
federal claimgCounts +VII and the § 1983 claim based on the Fourteenth Amendment in Count

VIII), or Plaintiffs’ PSTCAand NIED claims (Counts IX and X)The case will be placed in

2 Defendants characterize Count VIII as a Mosklim. SeeMot. at 32—33.) The Court notes
that if Plaintiffs attempt to bring Monell claim under § 1983 against both Defendants after
exhausting administrative remedies, the Court beinclined to dismiss the officighpacity
claim against Lazar for redundancgeeMoore v. City of Phila., No. 14-133, 2014 WL 859322,
at *3 (E.D. Pa. Mar. 5, 2014) (Baylson, Exércising discretion to dismis$ficial-capacity
Monell claims against prison officials for redundancy where the samesclaanme brought
against the City).
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suspense pending further filings reflecting Plaintiffs’ exhaustion oflEH€A administrative
process.

An appropriate Order follows.
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